RECEIVED

10-05-2016

State of Wisconsin Court of Appeals District 1

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2016AP001411 - CR

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

Richard J. Scott,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from a judgment of the Kenosha County Circuit Court, The Honorable Bruce E. Schroeder, presiding

Defendant-Appellant's Brief and Appendix

Law Offices of Jeffrey W. Jensen 735 W. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1200 Milwaukee, WI 53233

414.671.9484

Attorneys for the Appellant

Statement of the Issues

I. Whether the circuit court erred in denying Scott's postconviction motion to withdraw his guilty plea to count four of the information (repeated sexual assault of a child) where Scott alleged in his motion that count four of the information failed to allege an offense known to law; at the plea colloquy, the judge failed discuss the essential nature of the offense alleged in the information; and where the "facts" established during the plea colloquy do not establish a violation of the statute alleged in the information.

Answered by the circuit court: No. At the plea hearing the judge asked Scott whether, on at least three occasions, he touched the child's vagina for purposes of sexual gratification; and Scott admitted that he did. It is irrelevant that these facts do not match the allegations of the information.

II. Whether the circuit court erred in denying Scott's postconviction motion to withdraw his guilty plea to count seven of the information (possession of child pornography), where Scott's motion alleged that there was not a sufficient factual basis in the record for the court to accept the plea.

Answered by the circuit court: No. The complaint alleged that Scott showed a picture of someone peeing in another person's mouth.

Summaries of the Arguments

I. The circuit court erred in denying Scott's motion to withdraw his guilty plea on count four. Scott pleaded guilty to count four of the information, which alleged that between August 1, 2007 and August 31, 2008, he committed repeated sexual assaults on the same child.

In his postconviction motion, Scott sought to withdraw his guilty plea to count four. The motion alleged that the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to accept his guilty plea because the information fails to allege a crime known to law. Specifically, the information alleges that "fewer than three of the violations" were first degree sexual assaults of a child; and the applicable version of the statute requires that "at least 3 of the violations" were first degree sexual assaults of a child. Further, Scott argued that the "facts" elicited by the judge during the

plea colloquy do not establish that fewer than three of the violations were first degree sexual assaults of a child.

The State responded by arguing that the *former* statute prohibiting repeated acts of sexual assaults *did* require that "fewer than three" of the violations were first degree sexual assaults of a child. The State acknowledged that the statute was amended effective March 26, 2008. That is, smack in the middle of the charging period alleged in the information.

The circuit court denied Scott's motion. The judge's reasoning was, in a nutshell, that Scott admitted that he first degree sexually assaulted the child on at least three occasions, and the language in the information requiring that "fewer than three" of the violations were first degree sexual assault, was inapplicable language affecting only the penalty provision.

The circuit court erred in denying Scott's motion to withdraw his guilty plea to count four for the following reasons:

• Where there is a continuing offense, the applicable statute is determined by the date of the most recent act constituting the offense; and, therefore, the "new" version of the statute applies. The information, therefore, which refers to the "old version" of the statute, fails to allege an offense known to law. By August 31, 2008, that version of the statute no longer existed. The court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to enter a conviction based on an information that alleges an offense that no longer exists.

- Even if the court had subject matter jurisdiction, during the plea colloquy, the judge described the elements of the "new" version of the statute, and this is wholly inconsistent with the version of the offense alleged in the information (i.e. the "old" version). Thus, the judge utterly failed to discuss the essential nature of the offense alleged in the information.
- Finally, the "facts" elicited by the judge during the plea colloquy, that Scott had sexual contact with the child on at least three occasion (that is, he committed three acts of first degree sexual assault), take this case wholly out of the purview of the old statute (which requires that fewer than three of the offenses first first degree sexual assaults of a child)

II There was not a factual basis to support Scott's guilty plea to possession of child pornography. At the plea hearing, the court accepted the criminal complaint as the factual basis for Scott's guilty plea to count seven of the information (possession of child pornography).

Concerning count seven, the complaint alleged:

Tina Gaspar talked to [MM], who stated that whenever they were at the defendant's house alone with him the defendant would put them in his lap and make them look at "nasty pictures" of naked girls and movies with naked males, females, and children. Gaspar stated that [MM] told her that she remembered one movie of a man

peeing into a girl's mouth.

(R:9) The complaint also alleges that, "A forensic analysis of the defendant's computer revealed numerous images of child pornography. There is one specific photograph that was moved to a "lost folder", which means the item was deleted. It is a girl, clearly under age 18, with a penis in the photo ejaculating onto her face. The photo was deleted on December 20, 2011." *Id.*

As will be set forth in more detail below, Tina Gaspar's interview of MM is totally insufficient to establish that Scott possessed child pornography. The complaint alleges that they were "nasty pictures", and in one of the pictures, a man was peeing into a girl's mouth. Was is conspicuously missing is any allegation that any of the individuals in the images were under the age of eighteen years. Similarly, the allegations concerning the images on "Scott's computer" is insufficient to permit an inference that Scott possessed those images. Simply calling the device "Scott's computer", with none of the surrounding circumstances, is a bald, conclusory allegation; and it is insufficient to establish possession.

Statement of the Case¹

On January 26, 2015, the defendant-appellant, Richard Scott (hereinafter "Scott") was charged with six counts of repeated sexual assault of the same child, and ten counts of possession of child pornography. (R:2)

Several months later, on May 26, 2015, Scott reached a plea agreement with the State. Under the plea agreement, Scott would plead guilty to count four (repeated sexual assault of the same child) and count seven (possession of child pornography), and the state would then dismiss all other counts in the information. (R:45-2) The State agreed to recommend nine years of initial incarceration.

Count four of the information alleges that:

The above-named defendant on or about *August 1, 2007 to August 31, 2008,* Kenosha County, Wisconsin, did commit repeated sexual assault involving the same child, MM, DOB 06/09/2002 *where fewer than three of the assaults were violations of sec. 948.02(1) Wis. Stats.*, contrary to sec. 948.025(1)(b), 939.50(3)(c) Wis. Stats., a Class C Felony, and upon conviction may be fined not more than One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000), or imprisoned not more than forty (40) years, or both.

(emphasis provided; R:15).

During the plea colloquy, the judge told Scott:

¹ This case was resolved with guilty pleas. The issues raised are procedural in nature. Therefore, a separate section for the factual background is not necessary. The facts, as necessary to an understanding of the issues, will be set forth as needed.

MR. BURGOYNE: Judge, count four is fewer than three assaults.

THE COURT: No. I think it means-- well, you are right, at least-- well-- but on at least three occasions you touched the child with some part of your body on the vagina for the purpose of your own sexual gratification. Do you understand this charge against you?

(emphasis provided; R:15-7) Scott said that he did understand.

Concerning the factual basis for the guilty plea to Count 7, alleging that Scott possessed child pornography on or about December 20, 2011, the judge stated, "I'm further satisfied that there is sufficient evidence in the sworn complaint to warrant acceptance of the plea . . ." (R:15-9)

However, concerning the possession of child pornography, the amended criminal complaint alleges:

Tina Gaspar talked to [MM], who stated that whenever they were at the defendant's house alone with him the defendant would put them in his lap and make them look at "nasty pictures" of naked girls and movies with naked males, females, and children. Gaspar stated that [MM] told her that she remembered one movie of a man peeing into a girl's mouth.

(R:9) The complaint also alleges that, "A forensic analysis of the defendant's computer revealed numerous images of child pornography. There is one specific photograph that was moved to a "lost folder", which means the item was deleted. It is a girl, clearly under age 18, with a penis in the photo ejaculating onto her face. The photo was deleted on December 20, 2011." *Id.*

The circuit court accepted Scott's guilty pleas to counts

four and seven.

The matter then proceeded to sentencing. On count four (repeated sexual assault), the court sentenced Scott to twenty-four years in prison, bifurcated as nine years initial confinement, and fifteen years extended supervision. On count seven, the court sentenced Scott to four years in prison consecutive to count four, bifurcated as one year initial confinement, and three years extended supervision. (R:46-12)

Scott timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief.

On June 6, 2016, Scott filed a postconviction motion to withdraw his guilty pleas. (R:34) The motion alleged that the plea to count four was wholly invalid because it did not allege an offense known to law; and, further, that the plea to count seven was invalid because there was no factual basis in the criminal complaint to support Scott's guilty plea to possession of child pornography.

Specifically, Scott's argument as to count four was that the criminal complaint alleged that he violated § 948.025(1)(b), Stats., which was alleged to be a Class C felony, where *fewer than three* of the assaults were violations of sec. 948.02(1) Wis. Stats. Scott pointed out that, in fact, § 948.025(1)(b), Stats., is a Class B felony, and it requires that "at least 3 of the violations were violations of s. 948.02 (1) (am), (b), or (c)."

The State filed a letter response. In the response, the

State claimed that Scott was charged under an earlier iteration of the statute.² (R:35) Under the earlier statute, § 948.025(1)(b), Stats., was a Class C felony, and did require that "fewer than three of the assaults were violations of sec. 948.02(1) Wis. Stats." The State correctly pointed out that the new statute-- argued by Scott in his motion-- was effective March 27, 2008.

The State's brief did not address the fact that the charging period alleged in count four, (August 1, 2007 to August 31, 2008) spans the effective date of the new statute. In other words, under the charging period in the statute, some of the acts may have occurred before the amendment of the statute, and some of the acts may have occurred after the amendment of the statute.

The circuit judge almost immediately denied Scott's motion. (R:36) The judge wrote:

Sexual Assault of a Child of the First Degree, prohibited by § 948.02(1), Stats., consisted in having sexual contact with a person who had not attained the age of 13. Sexual contact included the intentional touching of the child's vagina by any part of the defendant's body if done for the purpose of his own sexual gratification. § 939.22(19) & (34), Stats.

At the plea, the defendant stated that he understood the charge, which was described as having, on at least three occasions during the period specified in the Information, touched the child with

_

² The information does not set forth what version of the statute-- that is, what year of the statutes-- that Scott was alleged to have violated.

a part of his body for his own sexual gratification.³ The portion of the written charge which mentioned "fewer that [sic] 3 of the violations" merely classified the crime as a Class C rather than a more serious class of felony.

ld.

The court was equally dismissive of Scott's claim that there was an insufficient factual basis in the criminal complaint to support his guilty plea to possession of child pornography. The judge reasoned, "Of course, the defendant omits reference to the allegation of the Amended Complaint that one of the children 'stated that the defendant would show her . . . nasty pictures and naked pictures including pictures of people peeing in other people's mouths." *Ibid.* p. 2

Scott timely filed a notice of appeal

³ The judge's reasoning appears to be that the oral description of the charge given at the plea hearing, which clearly differs from the written charge in the information, is sufficient to permit the court to accept Scott's guilty plea to count four.

Argument

I. The circuit court erred in denying Scott's motion to withdraw his guilty plea to count four (repeated sexual assault)

Scott pleaded guilty to count four of the information, which alleged that between August 1, 2007 and August 31, 2008, he committed repeated sexual assaults on the same child.

In his postconviction motion, Scott sought to withdraw his guilty plea to count four. The motion alleged that the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to accept his guilty plea because the information fails to allege a crime known to law. Specifically, the information alleges that "fewer than three of the violations" were first degree sexual assaults of a child; and the applicable version of the statute requires that "at least 3 of the violations" were first degree sexual assaults of a child. Further, Scott argued that the "facts" elicited by the judge during the plea colloquy do not establish that fewer than three of the violations were first degree sexual assaults of a child.

The State responded by arguing that the former statute prohibiting repeated acts of sexual assaults *did* require that "fewer than three" of the violations were first degree sexual assaults of a child. The State acknowledged that the statute

was amended effective March 26, 2008. That is, smack in the middle of the charging period alleged in the information.

The circuit court denied Scott's motion. The judge's reasoning was, in a nutshell, that Scott admitted that he first degree sexually assaulted the child on at least three occasions, and the language in the information requiring that "fewer than three" of the violations were first degree sexual assault, was inapplicable language affecting only the penalty provision.

The circuit court erred in denying Scott's motion to withdraw his guilty plea to count four for the following reasons:

- Where there is a continuing offense, the applicable statute is determined by the date of the most recent act constituting the offense; and, therefore, the "new" version of the statute applies. The information, therefore, which refers to the "old version" of the statute, fails to allege an offense known to law. By August 31, 2008, that version of the statute no longer existed. The court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to enter a conviction based on an information that alleges an offense that no longer exists.
- Even if the court had subject matter jurisdiction, during the plea colloquy, the judge described the elements of the "new" version of the statute, and this is wholly inconsistent with the version of the offense alleged in the information (i.e. the "old" version). Thus, the judge utterly

failed to discuss the essential nature of the offense alleged in the information.

 Finally, the "facts" elicited by the judge during the plea colloquy, that Scott had sexual contact with the child on at least three occasion (that is, he committed three acts of first degree sexual assault), take this case wholly out of the purview of the old statute (which requires that fewer than three of the offenses first first degree sexual assaults of a child)

A. Standard of Appellate Review

The "[g]eneral rule [is] that a defendant seeking to withdraw a guilty or no contest plea after sentencing must show " 'manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence.' " [internal citations omitted]. This method, often referred to as the *Bentley* standard, see *id.*, ¶ 51, applies a two-step standard of review for motions to withdraw guilty or no contest pleas. *Id.*, ¶ 55.

Under the first step of a *Bentley*-type review, a reviewing court must determine whether a defendant's postconviction motion alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. [internal citations omitted] This presents a question of law subject to independent review. *Id.* Where a defendant's motion alleges facts that would entitle him to withdraw his plea, but the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, no evidentiary hearing is required. *Id.* Whether the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is entitled to no relief is also a question of law, subject to independent review. *Id.*

State v. Negrete, 2012 WI 92, ¶¶ 16-17, 343 Wis. 2d 1, 13-14,

B. Where there is a continuing offense, the controlling statute is determined as of the date of the last act constituting the offense.

"In contrast to the instantaneous nature of most crimes, a continuing offense is one which consists of a course of conduct enduring over an extended period of time." *John v. State*, 96 Wis. 2d 183, 188, 291 N.W.2d 502, 505 (1980) The court will find an offense to be continuing when, "the nature of the crime involved is such that Congress must assuredly have intended that it be treated as a continuing one." *Toussie v. United States*, 397 U.S. 112, 115, 90 S. Ct. 858, 860, 25 L. Ed. 2d 156 (1970).

Repeated sexual assault of a child is, almost by definition, a continuing offense. *See, e.g., State v. Johnson,* 2001 WI 52, ¶ 22, 243 Wis. 2d 365, 379, 627 N.W.2d 455, 462.

Since repeated sexual assault of a child is a continuing offense, the applicable statute is determined as of the date the last act constituting the offense is committed.

For example, "Even if the initial unlawful act may itself embody all of the elements of the crime, the criminal limitations period commences from the most recent act. . . Stated another way, the statute of limitations for a continuing offense does not begin to run until the last act is done which viewed by itself is a crime." *John v. State*, 96 Wis. 2d 183, 188, 291 N.W.2d 502,

505 (1980)

Additionally, in a situation very similar to the one presented here, the court specifically held that the statute in effect on the date the last act of a continuing offense is committed is the statute that controls. In, State v. Ramirez, 2001 WI App 158, 246 Wis. 2d 802, 633 N.W.2d 656 Ramirez fraudulently used another person's social security number to obtain employment at the Trek bicycle company. Months after Ramirez had obtained employment, the legislature created the "identity theft" law. When Ramirez's fraud was discovered, he was charged with identity theft. Ramirez claimed that this was an ex post facto application of the law. In affirming the conviction, the court of appeals held that since Ramirez continued to receive wages after the effective date of the identity fraud statute, it was a continuing offense and he could be charged with identity theft even though his first fraudulent use of the social security number predated the passage of the The court wrote, "Since Ramirez's identity theft allowed him to obtain wages after the effective date of the statute, we hold that the application of the statute did not violate the ex post facto provisions of the Wisconsin Constitution." Ramirez, 2001 WI App 158, ¶ 18

For these reasons, the version of § 948.025(1)(b), Stats. that was in effect on August 31, 2008 is that statute that controls.

C. The court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to accept a guilty plea to a crime that does not exist.

"The failure to charge any offense known to law has also been termed jurisdictional. [internal citations omitted] "A complaint which charges no offense is jurisdictionally defective and void and the defect cannot be waived by a guilty plea, the court does not have jurisdiction." *Mack v. State*, 93 Wis. 2d 287, 295, 286 N.W.2d 563, 567 (1980)

Here, as to count four, the information alleged that the offense went from August 1, 2007 to August 31, 2008. Thus, the statute that was in effect on August 31, 2008 is the statute that governs.

On August 31, 2008, the version of § 948.025(1)(b), Stats., is as follows:

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