RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 12-06-2016

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP1411-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RICHARD J. SCOTT,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE BRUCE E. SCHROEDER, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

GREGORY M. WEBER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018533

Attorneys for Plaintiff- Respondent

A. Introduction.

Scott seeks to shed his guilty plea to Count Four in the information. He argues as follows:

- In all its iterations, Wis. Stat. § 948.025 creates a continuing criminal offense. "Where there is a continuing offense, the controlling statute is determined as of the date of the last act constituting the offense." (Scott's Br. 17.) That means the version of the statute in effect on the last day of the charging period—August 31, 2008—sets the outer boundary of the offense. (*Id.* at 17-18.)
- Because the statute changed during the charging period, Scott claims the State charged him under a statute no longer in effect on August 31, 2008. He says this resulted in his being charged with an offense unknown to law, and the circuit court therefore lacked subject matter jurisdiction. (*Id.* at 19-20.)
- Even if the circuit court possessed subject matter jurisdiction, Scott still challenges the plea colloquy "because the court's oral description of the nature of the offense differed from the offense charged in the information." (*Id. at* 20-22.)

• Scott also claims the historical facts recited by the circuit court didn't establish a violation of the offense charged in the information. (*Id.* at 22-23.)

The argument falters under scrutiny.

B. The standard of review.

This issue involves the construction and application of statutes. It presents questions of law, reviewed de novo. *State ex rel. Treat v. Puckett*, 2002 WI App 58, ¶ 9, 252 Wis. 2d 404, 643 N.W.2d 515. Reviewing courts seek to ascertain and apply legislative intent. *In re Estate of Kuhn*, 2000 WI App 113, ¶ 7, 235 Wis. 2d 210, 612 N.W.2d 385.

C. Scott suffered no prejudice from the parties' erroneous belief that an earlier version of Wis. Stat. §§ 948.02 and 948.025 established the charged crime.

1. Introduction.

The crime of engaging in repeated acts of sexual assault of the same child—codified at Wis. Stat. § 948.025—has been in place since the mid-1990's. And more general prohibitions against child sexual assault have existed since Scott's birth. See, e.g., Wis. Stat. §§ 944.10 and 944.11 (1959-60).

Here, the parties and the circuit court incorrectly believed they were proceeding under the iteration of Wis. Stat. § 948.025 in effect at the end of the charging period—August 31, 2008. That erroneous belief, standing alone, doesn't entitle Scott to plea withdrawal or any other relief. That's true even if the erroneous belief found its way into the charging documents filed in this case. Any error was harmless.

2. Any errors in the charging documents didn't result in prejudice to Scott.

"No indictment, information, complaint or warrant shall be invalid, nor shall the trial, judgment or other proceedings be affected by reason of any defect or imperfection in matters of form which do not prejudice the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 971.26. A failure to cite the most recent iteration of a statute is immaterial unless the defendant suffered prejudice. *See Craig v. State*, 55 Wis. 2d 489, 493, 198 N.W.2d 609 (1972). *See also State v. Tisland*, No. 2012AP1570-CR, 2015 WL 264073, ¶ 17 (Wis. Ct. App. Jan. 22, 2015) (unpublished).²

Prejudice results if the alleged error prevented the defendant from understanding the charges and preparing a defense.

The purpose of a charging document is to inform the defendant of the acts he allegedly committed and to allow him to understand the offense charged so that he can prepare a defense. The key factor in determining whether an amended charging document prejudiced the defendant is whether the defendant had notice of the nature and cause of the accusations against him. There is no prejudice when the defendant has such notice.

State v. Flakes, 140 Wis. 2d 411, 419, 410 N.W.2d 614 (Ct. App. 1987) (citations omitted).

¹ Wisconsin law also permits, under certain circumstances, amendment of a complaint or information at any point in the proceedings. *See* Wis. Stat. § 971.29.

² Cited as persuasive authority only. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.23(3)(b). A copy appears in the supplemental appendix.

In *Flakes*, the defendant "never claimed that he had a viable defense against the charge of sexual contact or intercourse with a minor or that [because of a typographical error in the charging document] he failed to present such a defense because he did not realize age was an issue." *Id.* at 420. Thus, an "information which miscited the statutory reference was sufficient where it verbally described the violation and the defendant could not have been misled or prejudiced by the incorrect statutory reference." *Id.* at 417-18.

Here, Count Four of the information specified a violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 948.02(1) and 948.025(1)(b) (2005-06). (15:1.) It alleged that Scott committed "repeated sexual assaults involving the same child, MM," born June 9, 2002. (*Id.*) It alleged that the assaults occurred between August 1, 2007, and August 31, 2008. (*Id.*) It alleged that "fewer than three of the assaults were violations of sec. 948.02(1) Wis. Stats." (*Id.*) And it stated the offense was "a Class C felony," exposing Scott to a possible 40-year prison sentence.

Had the information used the language specified in the iteration of the statute in effect on August 31, 2008, it would have alleged Class C felony criminal liability "if at least 3 of the violations were violations of s. 948.02 (1) or (2)." Either way, it would have alleged that at least one of the repeated sexual assaults was a second-degree sexual assault.

The narrative portion of the criminal complaint and the information put Scott on notice about the charges against him and provided him with everything he needed to prepare a defense, if he had one. (9; 15.) See Craig, 55 Wis. 2d at 493; Flakes, 140 Wis. 2d at 417-20.

So even if there had been a "defect or imperfection" in this part of the information, it was non-prejudicial and did not "invalid[ate]" the information or otherwise "affect[]" Scott's plea or the resulting judgment of conviction. Wis. Stat. § 971.26.

The fact that a version of Wis. Stat. § 948.025 was already in full force and effect further diminishes the possibility of prejudice. In *State v. Wachsmuth*, the court

reject[ed] Wachsmuth's contention that his conviction must be reversed because the state charged him with a violation of sec. 948.02(1), Stats., a statute that did not exist at the time the alleged incident occurred. Section 948.02(1) is merely the successor statute to sec. 940.225(1), Stats., the controlling statute defining first-degree sexual assault at the time the incident occurred in this case. The judgment of conviction in this case correctly reflects that Wachsmuth was convicted of first-degree sexual assault in violation of sec. 940.225(1).

Both statutes contain identical elements. The case was tried on the proper elements, and the jury was properly instructed as to the elements of the offense. Hence, the technical charging error made by the state was clearly harmless to Wachsmuth. See State v. Dorcey, 98 Wis. 2d 718, 720, 298 N.W.2d 213, 215 (Ct. App. 1980); see also sec. 971.26, Stats.

166 Wis. 2d 1014, 1026-27, 480 N.W.2d 842 (Ct. App. 1992).

Additionally, Scott doesn't account for his failure to make a timely objection to the "defects" in the charging documents until postconviction proceedings. *See* Wis. Stat. § 971.31(2) and (5)(a). Timely objection would have permitted amendment of the charge, removing any possibility of prejudice. Forfeiture of the claim on appeal appears apt.³

7

 $^{^3}$ "There is a recognized need for forfeiture in the criminal justice system." *State v. Thompson*, 2012 WI 90, ¶ 72, 342 Wis. 2d 674, 818 N.W.2d 904. It facilitates the fair, orderly administration of

D. The circuit court had subject matter jurisdiction over Scott's prosecution.

For argument, the State will assume the prosecution should have brought its charge of repeated sexual assault of the same child under the statutes in effect on the last day of the charging period—August 31, 2008.

But the conclusion Scott draws from this—that the circuit court lacked subject matter to accept his plea, enter his conviction, and sentence him—is incorrect.

Scott cites *Mack v. State*, 93 Wis. 2d 287, 295, 286 N.W.2d 563 (1980), for the black-letter proposition that the failure to allege an offense known to law is jurisdictionally defective and void. (Scott's Br. 19.)

But we don't have that situation here.

"A complaint that charges an offense not known to law is one that omits an essential element of the crime charged as defined by statute or case law." *State v. Schroeder*, 224 Wis. 2d 706, 714, 593 N.W.2d 76 (Ct. App. 1999). "A complaint which charges no offense is jurisdictionally defective and void and the defect cannot be waived by a guilty plea, the court does not have jurisdiction." *Mack*, 93 Wis. 2d at 295 (citation omitted).

justice, encourages vigilance by litigants, and conserves judicial and prosecutorial resources. *State v. Pinno*, 2014 WI 74, ¶ 56, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207; *State v. Boshcka*, 178 Wis. 2d 628, 643, 496 N.W.2d 627 (Ct. App. 1992). In this context, it also discourages sandbagging by defendants who might otherwise wait to see what sentence they receive before objecting. *Cf. Boshcka*, 178 Wis. 2d at 643; *Dudrey v. State*, 74 Wis. 2d 480, 485, 247 N.W.2d 105 (1976).

However:

If the criminal complaint is defective, or if the defendant is convicted under an invalid law, the conviction itself is not void. The circuit court still has subject matter jurisdiction to render its judgment. Even where the error in the law or proceedings is fatal to the prosecution, the circuit court has the power to inquire into the sufficiency of the charges before the court.

Mack, 93 Wis. 2d at 295.

"A crime is conduct which is prohibited by state law and punishable by fine or imprisonment or both." Wis. Stat. § 939.12. If Scott committed acts prohibited by the Wisconsin Statutes at the time he committed them, the circuit court had subject matter jurisdiction over his case.

And we have that situation here. Like the defendant in *Tisland*, who sought to parlay earlier statutory amendments to Wis. Stat. §§ 948.02 and 948.025 into a claim that he'd been charged with an offense unknown to law, Scott "was plainly charged with the sexual assault of a child under a then existing statutory scheme, WIS. STAT. §§ 948.02 and 948.025." 2015 WL 264073, ¶ 10. The last amendments to these statutes—the ones contained in 2007 Wisconsin Act 80, effective March 23, 2008—didn't expressly or impliedly repeal the statutory scheme under which the State charged Scott. *See id.* ¶ 16.

Here, the State charged Scott with a crime well-known to Wisconsin law.

At worst, the charging documents contained a defect. As argued above, such an error doesn't warrant postconviction relief unless the defendant can show prejudice. *See* Wis. Stat. § 971.26 *and supra* at 6-9. And under *Mack*, even if a "complaint is defective, or if the

defendant is convicted under an invalid law, ... [t]he circuit court still has subject matter jurisdiction to render its judgment." 93 Wis. 2d at 295.

At most, Scott has shown the State charged him under the wrong version of a criminal offense that undeniably existed at the time he committed his crimes. *Mack* doesn't support his contention that this alleged error means he was charged with a crime unknown to law, or that the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over this case. The charging documents charged him with an existing crime. He entered a valid guilty plea to that crime. No reason exists to tinker with his conviction.

E. The plea colloquy adequately described the nature of the offense to which Scott pleaded guilty, and the facts relied upon provided a satisfactory basis to support Scott's guilt.

Scott argues alternately that, in taking his guilty plea to Count Four, the circuit court failed to adequately inform him of the nature of the offense. He claims the court described the gravamen of repeated sexual assault of the same child using the form of the statute in effect on August 31, 2008 which, in Scott's view, didn't adequately put him on notice, and didn't accurately describe the offense of conviction. (Scott's Br. 20-23.)

The circuit court rejected Scott's argument, concluding that "the plea as taken from the defendant involved his knowing admission of constituent acts which constitute the crime charged." (36:1.) The State agrees with the circuit court.

Wisconsin Stat. § 971.08(1)(a) and (b) specify in pertinent part that, before accepting a guilty plea, the circuit court must (1) address the defendant personally and

determine he understands the nature of the charge, and (2) make such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant did in fact commit the charged crime.

Morones v. State explains the purpose of this inquiry:

The purpose of the statutory requirement for a court inquiry as to basic facts is to protect the defendant who pleads guilty voluntarily and understanding the charge brought but not realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the statutory definition of the charge. What is required is a sufficient postplea inquiry to determine to the court's satisfaction that the facts, if proved, constitute the offense charged and whether the defendant's conduct does not amount to a defense. At the time of taking the plea, the trial court may consider hearsay evidence, such as testimony of police officers, the preliminary examination record and other records in the case. Upon review, we are to determine whether the trial court possessed sufficient facts and made sufficient inquiry to satisfy itself that the acts admitted constituted the crime committed.

61 Wis. 2d 544, 552-53, 213 N.W.2d 31 (1973) (footnotes and internal quotation marks omitted). See also State v. Sutton:

When we review a circuit court's determination that a sufficient factual basis exists to support a plea, we look at the totality of the circumstances surrounding the plea to determine whether the court's findings were clearly erroneous. We approach this issue recognizing that where, as here, the plea is pursuant to a negotiated agreement between the State and the defendant, the court need not go to the same length to determine whether the facts would sustain the charge as it would where there is no negotiated plea.

2006 WI App 118, ¶ 16, 294 Wis. 2d 330, 718 N.W.2d 146 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

During the plea colloquy, Scott told the circuit court he was satisfied with his lawyer's performance, that he was

pleading guilty as a matter of free will, and that he'd had enough time to discuss the matter with his lawyer and to think about his decision. (45:5-6.) He considered his guilty pleas "the best thing under all the circumstances[.]" (*Id.* at 6.)

This exchange between the circuit court and Scott pertained to the charge of repeated sexual assault of the same child:

THE COURT: The charge against you in the fourth count of the information is that between August 1st of 2007 and August 31st of 2008 at this county, you committed sexual assaults involving the same child, whose name is—what is it?

MR BURGOYNE [The prosecutor:] Just a moment, please, Judge, I'm sorry.

MR. ROSE [Trial defense counsel:] It is listed MM in the complaint.

MR BURGOYNE: It is listed as MM?

THE COURT: [The victim's first name?]

MR. BURGOYNE: Yes. I believe it's [the victim's complete name.]

THE COURT: All right.

MR. BURGOYNE: Her date of birth is [complete date of birth.]

THE COURT: She was born on [complete date of birth.] There were at least three offenses, incidents in which you applied your finger to her vagina.

MR. BURGOYNE: Judge, count four is fewer than three assaults.

THE COURT: No. I think it means—well, you are right, at least—well—but on at least three occasions you touched the child with some part of your body on the vagina for the purpose of your own sexual gratification. Do you understand this charge against you?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: How do you plead?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

(*Id.* at 6-7.) Scott asked no questions, and trial defense counsel made no objections or requests for clarification.

That's not surprising. This matter resolved by a negotiated plea that called for dismissal of multiple charges. (*Id.* at 2.) This case started out as a 2011 case file in Kenosha County. (38:2.) And that file—Case No. 2011CF1232—included a charge brought under Wis. Stat. § 948.025.4

Scott had faced a charge under Wis. Stat. § 948.025 for some time. He wasn't caught by surprise at the plea hearing.

When taking a guilty plea, a circuit court discusses the nature of the charge with the defendant to protect him from pleading to a crime he didn't commit, or to a crime for which he has a defense he could—and would—assert at a trial. *Morones*, 61 Wis. 2d at 552-53.

etails (last visited December 2, 2016).

13

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